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Los Angeles has often been characterized as a jumble of “suburbs in search of a city.” But Los Angeles has always boasted a significant downtown and it looks a whole heck of a lot like it did eighty years ago. Unlike Manhattan (on an island) or Philadelphia (squeezed between two rivers) or Chicago (pressed against a lake), developers in Los Angeles could build freely to the west rather than destroy existing structures.
The Historic Core is stuffed with grand old buildings, many exactly 150 feet in height, owing to a height limit ordinance passed in 1911. The restriction was intended to limit the density of downtown Los Angeles and allow the famous Southern California sunshine to reach the sidewalks. Rare exceptions were granted for decorative towers with setbacks in the upper stories that appeared in the 1920s. The restriction was lifted in 1957 but there is still none of the experience of being stranded in an urban canyon in the Downtown Core.
The Downtown Core is roughly defined by four north-south streets from Hill Street to the west to Main Street to the east. The Financial District tour will travel down Main Street and back up Spring Street (the Theatre District tour covers Broadway and Hill Street). When the City’s banks began seeping out of the Los Angles business center in the early 1900s they congregated to the south along Spring Street. There were so many banks and law offices and insurance money here that Spring Street became known as the “Wall Street of the West” and Los Angeles became a player on the national financial stage.
The Financial Center stayed intact for more than half-a-century until the lifting of the height restrictions triggered a move several blocks to the west and the money men departed en masse. Nobody bothered to rebuild, they just left and there was no money still here to tear much down. The empty buildings spawned an unsavory element that dominated the area into the 1980s. In recent years the old Financial District has undergone redevelopment and regentrification. Perhaps most pleased with the state of affairs is Hollywood which mines the richly decorated blocks of Beaux Arts buildings that stand virtually unchanged for movie sets.
There are dozens of such period-piece visages waiting in the Financial District but we will begin our walking tour with a structure from still an earlier era, today just about a one-of-a-kind in Los Angeles...
1.
Pershing Hotel at the 1888 Charnock Block
502 South Main Street at southeast corner of 5th Street
This rare splash of Victorian flavor in downtown Los Angeles was originally built as a commercial block in 1888 but the upper floor has functioned as a hotel for most of 100 years. Look up above the ground level to see a still lively second floor punctuated by finely crafted projecting oriel bay windows against the painted brick. The Owl Drug Company was a one-time prominent tenant. The corner weathervane is a 1989 addition from blacksmith sculptor Adam Leventhal, called “Sun Moon Dome.”
ACROSS THE STREET, FRAMING 5TH STREET, ARE THE TWO PARTS OF THE..
2.
Rosslyn Hotel
west side of 5th Street at Main Street
The Rosslyn Hotel began its hospitality career as a four-story operation in the 400 block of Main Street before embarking on a major expansion in 1913. The town’s go-to architect for big projects, John Parkinson, was called on to design the “Rosslyn Million Dollar Fireproof Hotel.” Main Street at the time was the pulsating heart of Los Angeles and the Rosslyn prospered so greatly that Parkinson was brought back ten years later to create a sister hotel across the street. The Rosslyn Hotel and the Rossyln Annex teamed to form a gateway to the City, announced by rooftop neon signs. Underground, a marble tunnel linked the two buildings and legend has it that the tunnel featured a secret exit that could be used during Prohibition. As Main Street’s importance waned after World War II so to did the Rossyln and in the 1970s the two hotels were acquired by different owners.
WALK SOUTH ON MAIN STREET (THE ROSSLYN WILL BE ON YOUR RIGHT).
3.
William G. Kerckhoff Building
560 South Main Street at northeast corner of 6th Street
Indiana-born William George Kerckhoff started his working life in his father’s saddlery and hardware business but left for California in 1878 when he was 22. He landed in Los Angeles and organized the firm of Jackson, Kerckhoff & Cuzner which morphed into the Kerckhoff-Cuzner Mill and Lumber Company. Their fleet of vessels shipping timber from the Northwest fueled one of the Pacific Coast’s largest enterprises. Kerckhoff expanded into electric and water power, becoming president of the Pacific Light and Power Company. This was their headquarters, designed in 1907 by busy Los Angeles architects Octavius Walls and John Morgan. William Kerckhoff died in 1929 and the Atcheson, Topeka and Santa Fe Railroad moved in. The office tower was officially renamed the Santa Fe Building in 1933.
4.
Pacific Electric Lofts
610 South Main Street at southeast corner of 6th Street
Of the “Big Four” managers of the Central Pacific Railroad that built half of the Transcontinental Railroad in 1869 Collis P. Huntington was the true railroad man. Using the Central Pacific as his base, Huntington built other monumental lines such as the Southern Pacific and the Chesapeake & Ohio, bringing his nephew, Henry Edwards Huntington into the business along the way. In 1898 Henry purchased the narrow gauge Los Angeles Railway that was known familiarly as the Yellow Car system for the golden-painted railroad cars that scurried around the city. In 1901 Huntington formed the sprawling interurban, standard gauge Pacific Electric Railway, known as the Red Car system, which put him in friendly competition with his uncle’s Southern Pacific for passengers. How friendly? When Collis Huntington died Henry took over a chunk of the business and later married his uncle’s widow, sending shock waves through polite San Francisco society. In 1905 Huntington commissioned this building to be both an office building and a terminal for his streetcar line that was running over 1,000 miles of track in Southern California. Designed by architect Thornton Fitzhugh, the Pacific Electric Building which was converted to lofts after a hundred years, has racked up over 450 movie and television credits.
5.
Cecil Hotel
640 South Main Street
The 700-room Cecil Hotel is a 1924 creation of Loy Lester Smith. In the beginning it was a linchpin in the hospitality empire of the Hanner family who helped develop Palm Springs. In recent years it has served as a low-cost hostel and been renovated as a European-style hotel.
6.
Craby Joe’s
656 South Main Street at northeast corner of 7th Street
Craby Joe’s - it was supposedly going to by “Crazy Joe’s” until a mix-up at the sign manufacturer - served its first drink right after the repeal of the Volstead Act that repealed Prohibition in 1933. The bar continued as the neighborhood declined and became iconic in 1987 when U2 filmed a music video of “Where The Streets Have No Name” from the rooftop. The bar has closed but its historic blue and pink neon sign was saved and has been on display in the Museum of Neon Art.
7.
Board of Trade Building
111 West 7th Street at northwest corner of Main Street
Completed in 1929 on plans drawn by Claud Beelman and Alexander Curlett, this Renaissance Revival building was home to the newly organized California Stock Exchange that formed in the wake of the collapse of the New York Stock market a few months earlier. The trading floor took its stylistic cures from the New York Stock Exchange with trading posts, a visitor’s gallery, private rooms and locker facilities. It was the first building on the West Coast constructed with automated elevators that no longer required an operator in the car.
8.
Huntington Hotel
752 South Main at northeast corner of 8th Street
Although this four-story corner hotel has a long history of being one of the City’s most troubled properties it sports a first-class pedigree. The esteemed firm of Morgan, Walls and Morgan provided the classically-tinged design in 1913.
CONTINUE WALKING ON MAIN STREET. ON YOUR LEFT, ACROSS THE PARKING LOT, IS...
9.
Harris Newmark Building/New Mart
127 East 9th Street at southwest corner of Spring Street
At twelve stories tall and 160 feet high, this was the first high rise to be built in this part of Los Angeles when it was completed in 1926. The money men were sons of Los Angeles pioneer Harris Newmark, whose memoir, Sixty Years in Southern California: 1853-1913, has been cited as the single greatest window into life in 19th century southern California. Newmark spent his early years in town as a grocer and dry goods merchant but was busy buying and selling properties by the 1880s. He was one of the founders of the Los Angeles Public Library, was a charter member of the Los Angeles Chamber of Commerce, and was one of the organizers of the Board of Trade, which helped bring railroad service to California. Alexander Curlett and Claud Beelman, who gave Los Angeles some of its most elegant buildings, contributed the design. Manufacturers Bank was founded at this location to service the local apparel manufacturers and Sam’s Deli was a popular eatery and watering hole for decades, with patrons lining up on the street to wait for a table. In the 1980s the space was transformed into fashion showrooms.
CONTINUE TO 9TH STREET WHERE MAIN STREET AND SPRING STREET JOIN.
10.
Marsh-Strong Building
112 West 9th Street at southeast corner of Spring Street
Developer Frank R. Strong shepherded this splendid office building to completion in 1912. Frederick Rice Dorn, an architect who made his reputation mostly with residences, provided the Italian Renaissance design. It was one of the largest mixed use structures combining ground floor storefronts and offices above in the City. Strong himself kept an office here. Today the space is occupied by small textile companies and known as the Apparel Mart Building.
11.
William May Garland Building
117 West 9th Street at southwest corner of Spring Street
William May Garland was born in Maine in 1866 and was working in Boston by the time he was 16. In 1890, he moved to Los Angeles and got a job as auditor of the Pacific Cable Railway Company. In 1894 he formed his real estate business, the W. M. Garland Company, that was to do much to shape downtown Los Angeles for the first part of the 20th century. This 1923 tower was created for Garland in 1923 by Alexander Curlett and Claud Beelman.
TURN RIGHT ON SPRING STREET AND WALK NORTH.
12.
City Club Building
833-837 South Spring Street
The City Club of Los Angeles was organized in 1907 by citizens who “were interested in seeing something done for the city by men who had no particular axe to grind, men who wished above everything to get all the light possible on public questions.” After a peripatetic early existence, gathering in local hotels, the Club rented the 12th and 13th floors of the Chapman Building that were outfitted with a dormitory, private baths, dining rooms, card rooms, a library and a ladies parlor. When the lease expired in 1924, Loy L. Smith was retained to design this clubhouse.
13.
Gans Brothers Building/Tomahawk Lofts
814 South Spring Street
The Gans Brothers, purveyors of electric household appliances and washing and wringing machines, constructed this eight-story building in 1914; George F. Barber was the architect on the project. At the time it was one of the first modern buildings in this area known as Flatiron Park and helped ignite a building boomlet that extended the Financial District south on Spring Street. Before becoming residential space this was traditionally home to financial institutions. The tomahawk sculpture piercing the facade is a 1980s creation of artist Gary Lloyd, said to conceal a battery-powered transmitter of his pirate radio station. Lloyd called his work “4D-KAXE” for his radio call letters and slathered the steel frame with Japanese, Mexican and American coins as a nod to the neighborhood’s ethnic make-up at the time.
14.
Lane Mortgage Building
208 West 8th Street at southwest corner of South Spring Street
The Lane Mortgage Company spent a reported $1,000,000 on this 12-story corner tower in 1922, constructed on plans by architect Loy Lester Smith. Shortly after it was raised the tower was scaled by Bill Strother, “the Human Fly,” to help promote Harold Lloyd’s first full-length film, Safety Last!.
15.
National City Bank Building
810 South Spring Street at southeast corner of 8th Street
Malcolm Crowe started in the banking industry in 1903 as a messenger boy. In 1923 when the National City Bank was organized, Crowe stood at its head. Albert R. Walker and Percy A. Eisen, considered local master-architects, were retained to provide a suitably impressive banking house for the new institution. Walker and Eisen filled the block with a 12-story Beaux Arts banking temple with grand proportions to convey the desired safety and stability.
16.
Great Republic Life Insurance Building
756 South Spring Street at northeast corner of 8th Street
Walker and Eisen were also at work on the opposite corner, designing this elegant Beaux Arts tower for the Great Republic Life Insurance company. It has now been subdivided into condominiums. Silent film buffs familiar with the dramatic stunts of Harold Lloyd may recognize the Great Republic Building from the final scene of Feet First.
17.
Financial Center Building
704 South Spring Street at southeast corner of 7th Street
In the early days of skyscraper construction architects adhered to the principle that tall buildings should resemble a classical column with a defined base (the ground floors) a shaft (the relatively unadorned center stories) and a capital (an ornate cornice). Samuel Tilden Norton and Frederick H. Wallis still adhered to the principle in 1924 when they designed this Beaux Arts office tower with contrasting stories of terra cotta and pressed brick, decorated with metal detailing. Norton kept an office in this building.
18.
Van Nuys Building
210 West 7th Street at southeast corner of Spring Street
This architectural gem was the most expensive office building in the City when it was raised for $1.25 million in 1911; a century later it would receive a $42 million facelift. This was one of the final projects in the career of Isaac Newton Van Nuys, whose name resonates across Southern California. Van Nuys was a New York farmer who came to California at the age of 30 in 1865 and soon opened a country store. He later moved to Los Angeles and took up management of the 60,000 acre corporation put together by Isaac Lankershim, the San Fernando Homestead Association. Van Nuys shipped the first grain cargo out of Los Angeles Harbor and the first grain ever shipped to Europe from the United States. He would shift into banking and real estate development before his death in 1912. Architects Octavius Morgan and John Walls generously lavished the Italian Renaissance-inspired 11-story building with terra cotta decorations on the facade. The Van Nuys Building did duty as a bank and financial center for the better part of 70 years before being converted into a 299-unit residential complex for low-income seniors.
The four-story, classically-flavored structure hugging the Van Nuys Building along the Spring Street elevation was actually constructed as a parking garage annex in 1929. Architects Morgan & Walls attempted to match the original’s dentil block cornice and Corinthian capitals but also snuck in some trendy Art Deco flourishes such as the quartet of eagles and porthole windows.
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